B Introduction to Stability Analysis

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
§3.1.	Stability		3–3
	§3.1.1.	Mathematical Models	3–3
	§3.1.2.	Difference Equations	3–3
	§3.1.3.	Stability Analysis Methods	3–3
	§3.1.4.	Test Equations	3–4
§3.2.	A First-Order ODE Test Equation		3–4
	§3.2.1.	A One-Step Integrator	3–4
	§3.2.2.	Real Negative λ	3–5
	§3.2.3.	Complex λ	3–6
§3.3.	A First-Order ODE System		3–7
	§3.3.1.	Reduction to Spectral Form	3–7
	§3.3.2.	FE Stability Analysis	3–7
§3.4.	A Secon	nd Order ODE	3–8
§3.5.	General ODE Systems		3–8
	§3.5.1.	Constant Coefficients	3–8
	§3.5.2.	Variable Coefficients	3–9
	§3.5.3.	Forced First-Order Linear System	3–9
	§3.5.4.	Linearization of General First-Order System	3–9
§3.6.	Oversta	ability	3–10
§3.	Notes a	nd.Bibliography.	3–11
§3.	Referer	nces	3–11

This chapter provides an introduction to the stability analysis of discretized ODEs. It is a tutorial review of some basic definitions and techniques distributed over many books. The next Chapter discusses tools for symbolic analysis of stability. As noted in Chapter 2, using partitioned analysis gives high flexibility of implementation. The downside of this freedom is the large number of possibilities. The motivation for doing stability analysis first is to filter out unsuitable choices.

§3.1. Stability

The term "stable" informally means *resistant to change*. For technical use the term has to be defined more precisely in term of the mathematical model, but the same connotation applies.

§3.1.1. Mathematical Models

By *mathematical model* is meant the governing differential equations used for the simulation of a mechanical system. Generally we will deal with a semidiscrete model: discrete in space and continuous in time. In the time domain the model is given by ordinary differential equations (ODE) in time. For such models the following definition of stability, due to Dirichlet,¹ has survived the test of time:

"The equilibrium [of a mechanical system] is stable if, in displacing the points of the system from their equilibrium positions by an infinitesimal amount and giving each one a small initial velocity, the displacements of different points of the system remain, throughout the course of the motion, contained within small prescribed limits"

Although the definition is dynamic in nature, it addresses *equilibrium solutions*. Definitions beyond that point become more difficult. But most look only at *steady state solutions*. An exception is chaotic systems, as in turbulence models, but we will not look at that class of problems in this course.

One extension is looking at deterministic periodic solutions: say the Earth orbiting around the Sun (or vice-versa if you believe in Aristotle). The underlying idea is the same. Suppose that a system is undergoing periodic motion: $\mathbf{u}(t + T) = \mathbf{u}(t)$. Perturb it by applying an arbitrary but tiny initial displacement or velocity. Study the subsequent motion. If the motion remains within small prescribed limits of the unperturbed motion "orbit" the steady state motion is stable, and unstable otherwise. The static steady-state case addressed by Dirichlet is of course included.

§3.1.2. Difference Equations

An integrator applied for temporal discretization produces a difference system. The foregoing definitions can be briefly recapitulated by looking at the sequence of computed solutions. Precise definitions are provided in texts cited in the **Notes and Bibliography** Section. Here we are interested in the stability of the *time integrator*. Informally, we want the time discretization

- 1. To preserve the stability of stable mathematical models, and
- 2. To manifest the instability of unstable mathematical models.

The first condition is classical. The second one is not. In the context of coupled systems, overstability can be as damaging as instability. For example, suppose one tries to determine the flutter boundary of an aircraft by doing simulations at increasing speeds. If the time integrator is strongly dissipative, the onset of flutter may be masked when running at finite step sizes, leading to erroneous conclusions.

¹ As it appears in his Appendix to the German translation of Lagrange's *Mécanique Analytique* [3.52].

§3.1.3. Stability Analysis Methods

There are two general classes of stability analysis methods:

Amplification Methods. Also called von Neumann stability analysis. Based on decomposition of motion into normal modes, often using Fourier analysis, and superposition. The analysis looks at the growth or decay of perturbations from one step to the next, and can be implemented using standard linear algebra procedures. It is *local* in nature, but so is the concept of stability. A more severe restriction is that it strictly applies only to *linear* systems. Despite this limitation it is frequently applied to nonlinear systems through linearization.

Energy Methods. Also known, notably in control theory, as Lyapunov methods. These look at the variation of certain function (or functional) measures of the motion amplitude. Often these are related to energy measures of various kinds, hence the name. Energy methods are not restricted to linear systems, but require the construction of suitable measures, and this has to be done case by case.

Because the systems examined in these lectures are linear, the amplification method is used.

§3.1.4. Test Equations

In practice stability analysis is not performed on the discrete systems of actual applications but on *test* equations, which are highly simplified models of the real thing. The idea is similar to the patch test in space discretizations: time integrators that do not do well on the test equations can be discarded right away. Those that survive can be subjected to further tests. Of course the ultimate test comes on the actual applications, but by then the choices are hopefully narrowed.

The selection of test equations ranges from established procedures (for standard ODE integrators) to more of a black art (in coupled systems). In this Chapter a scalar test equation is taken as given, and the stability analysis done on it. This introduces the reader to commonly used time integrators.

§3.2. A First-Order ODE Test Equation

The most commonly used scalar test equation for first-order ODEs, and also the simplest, is

$$\dot{y} = \lambda y. \tag{3.1}$$

Here y = y(t) and λ is a coefficient independent of time, which is generally complex. To simplify the following study we will restrict its real part to be nonpositive: $\Re[\lambda] \le 0$. If so the solutions $y(t) = Ce^{\lambda t}$ of (3.1) are stable in the sense of being bounded for t > 0. We therefore expect the time integrator to preserve this attribute. Gear [3.28, p. 9] defines *absolute stability* on the test equation (3.1), treated by an integrator of stepsize *h*, as follows:

"The region of absolute stability is that set of values of h (real nonnegative) and λ for which a perturbation in a single value y_n will produce a change in subsequent values which does not increase from step to step."

This definition is relevant for $\Re[\lambda] \le 0$ and will be used in the next two sections. It fails for $\Re[\lambda] > 0$, as discussed in §3.6.

§3.2.1. A One-Step Integrator

The general one-step integrator in the class of Linear Multistep Methods (LMS) is

$$y_{n+1} = y_n + h \left[\beta \dot{y}_{n+1} + (1-\beta) \dot{y}_n\right], \qquad (3.2)$$

where β is a coefficient in the range [0, 1]. Three well known members of this family are:

Forward Euler (FE) integrator (also known as explicit Euler): $\beta = 0$.

Backward Euler (FE) integrator (also known as implicit Euler): $\beta = 1$.

Trapezoidal Rule (TR) integrator: $\beta = \frac{1}{2}$.

To get a difference equation, state that (3.1) is verify at $t = t_n$: $\dot{y}_n = \lambda y_n$, and at $t = t_{n+1}$: $\dot{y}_{n+1} = \lambda y_{n+1}$. Replacing those derivatives into (3.2) yields $y_{n+1} = y_n + h [\beta \lambda y_{n+1} + (1 - \beta)\lambda y_n]$. Move all terms pertaining to the next time: t_{n+1} to the left hand side to get the difference system

$$(1 - \beta \lambda h)y_{n+1} = [1 + (1 - \beta)\lambda h]y_n.$$
(3.3)

Solve for y_{n+1} to obtain the *amplification form*:

$$y_{n+1} = \frac{1 + (1 - \beta)\lambda h}{1 - \beta\lambda h} y_n = \frac{1 + (1 - \beta)\mu}{1 - \beta\mu} y_n = z y_n, \quad \text{where} \quad \mu = \lambda h.$$
(3.4)

Here z denotes the *amplification factor*. This is the amount by which the solution at one step is multiplied to get to the next step, hence the name. If λ is complex, so is z. The criterion for stability is that its modulus does not exceed unity:

$$|z| = \left|\frac{1 + (1 - \beta)\mu}{1 - \beta\mu}\right| \le 1.$$
(3.5)

Note that this is verified for stepsize h = 0 because if so $\mu = \lambda h = 0$ for any λ , and z = 1. So the question is: what happens for finite h > 0? There are three possibilities:

- (C) If (3.5) is verified for $h = [0, h_{max}]$, with $h_{max} > 0$, the integrator is called *conditionally stable*. In this case h_{max} is the *stability limit* and $[0, h_{max}]$ the *stability range*.
- (U) If (3.5) is violated for any stepsize h > 0, the integrator is called *unconditionally unstable*.
- (A) If (3.5) is verified for all $h \ge 0$ (meaning that $h_{max} \to \infty$) the integrator is called *A*-stable.

Obviously (A) is the most desirable objective, followed by (C), whereas (U) is unacceptable.

```
 \begin{split} z = (1 + (1 - \beta) * \mu) / (1 - \beta * \mu); \\ \text{Plot}[\{z/.\beta ->0, z/.\beta ->1/2, z/.\beta ->1\}, \{\mu, -4, 0\}, \text{ Frame->True}, \\ \text{PlotStyle->}\{\{\text{AbsoluteThickness[2], RGBColor[0,0,0]}\}, \\ \{\text{AbsoluteThickness[2], RGBColor[1,0,0]}\}, \\ \{\text{AbsoluteThickness[2], RGBColor[0,0,1]}\}\}; \end{split}
```

Figure 3.1. Script to generate the plot of Figure 3.2.

§3.2.2. Real Negative λ

If λ is real and negative, the amplification factor behavior for different β can be simply obtained by the *Mathematica* script of Figure 3.1. The generated plot of z versus $\mu = \lambda h \in [0, -4]$ for FE, BE and TR is shown in Figure 3.2. This is called an *amplification plot*. Clearly BE ($\beta = 1$) and TR ($\beta = \frac{1}{2}$) are in the stable region $|A| \leq 1$, and it is not difficult to show that this happens for all h > 0. On the other hand, FE clearly goes unstable for $h > -2/\lambda$. If fact, setting $\beta = 0$ in (3.5) gives $A = 1 + \mu$, which crosses the stability boundary A = -1 at $\mu = -2$ and goes to $-\infty$ as $\mu \to \infty$.

§3.2.3. Complex λ

The complex λ case is of particular interest when the test equation comes from the reduction of a second order equation with oscillatory solutions. An amplification plot such as that in Figure 3.2 can be done via a 3D display that shows $\Re(\mu)$ and $\Im(\mu)$ and z in the x, y and z directions, respectively. This has the advantages of showing the magnitude of z but can be difficult to visualize. The alternative is to stick with a 2D plot over the complex μ plane, with $\Re(\mu)$ and $\Im(\mu)$ along x and y, respectively, and displaying only the stable and unstable regions. This is called a stability chart.





StabilityIndicator[μ , β]:=If[Abs[(1+(1- β)* μ)/(1- β * μ)]<=1,1,0]; ContourPlot[StabilityIndicator[μ R+I* μ I,0],{ μ R,-4,0},{ μ I,-2,2}, PlotPoints->200,ContourLines->False];

Figure 3.3. Script to generate the plot of Figure 3.4.

The *Mathematica* script shown in Figure 3.3 produces a stability chart for (3.5). The result is shown in Figure 3.4 for the FE ($\beta = 0$) integrator over the left part of the μ plane. The plot technique deserve some explanation. The function

StabilityIndicator[
$$\mu$$
, β] (3.6)

evaluates $z = [1 + (1 - \beta)\mu]/[1 - \beta\mu]$, which is complex if μ is. It returns 1 if $|z| \leq 1$ and 0 otherwise. So given a $\{\mu, \beta\}$ pair, (3.6) gives 1 if stable, and 0 if unstable. When this discontinuous function is displayed as a contour plot in the complex μ plane with sufficiently high resolution (requested



by saying PlotPoints->200), the only contour lines are very Figure 3.4. Stability chart for complex $\mu = \lambda h$, close to stability boundaries.

The results can be clearly observed in Figure 3.4, which shows the stability boundary to be the circle $|1 + \mu| \le 1$. The option ContourLines->False asks that contour lines not be shown to reduce clutter, making contrast between stable vs. unstable region colors sharper.



For real λ the stable interval is $\mu = h\lambda = [0, -2]$ as previously found. For purely imaginary λ there is no stable interval since the circle does not intersect the imaginary axis and FE becomes unconditionally unstable. Doing this plot for TR and BE gives no stability boundaries over the $\Re(\lambda) \in [-4, 0]$ range: the whole plotted region is stable. It is easily shown that both methods are A-stable for any complex λ with $\Re(\lambda) < 0$.

§3.3. A First-Order ODE System

Suppose that instead of one equation we have the (admittedly contrived) homogeneous system of four first-order ODEs with constant coefficients:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{u}_1 \\ \dot{u}_2 \\ \dot{u}_3 \\ \dot{u}_4 \end{bmatrix} = -\begin{bmatrix} 85 & 51 & -75 & -45 \\ 51 & 85 & -45 & -75 \\ -75 & -45 & 85 & 51 \\ -45 & -75 & 51 & 85 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \\ u_3 \\ u_4 \end{bmatrix}. \text{ or } \dot{\mathbf{u}} = \mathbf{L} \, \mathbf{u}.$$
(3.7)

where the u_i are functions of time.

§3.3.1. Reduction to Spectral Form

Computing the eigenvalues λ_i and eigenvectors \mathbf{v}_i of \mathbf{L} furnishes the spectral decomposition $\mathbf{L} = \mathbf{V} \mathbf{\Lambda} \mathbf{V}^T$ and $\mathbf{V}^T \mathbf{L} \mathbf{V} = \mathbf{\Lambda}$, in which

Since **L** is real symmetric, the eigenvalues are real and the matrix of normalized eigenvectors **V** is orthogonal: $\mathbf{V}^T \mathbf{V} = \mathbf{I}$. Make the change of variables:

$$\begin{bmatrix} u_1 \\ u_2 \\ u_3 \\ u_4 \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 1 & -1 & -1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 & 1 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ y_3 \\ y_4 \end{bmatrix}, \text{ or } \mathbf{u} = \mathbf{V}\mathbf{y}, \quad \mathbf{y} = \mathbf{V}^T \mathbf{u}, \quad \dot{\mathbf{u}} = \mathbf{V}\mathbf{\dot{y}}, \quad \dot{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{V}^T \dot{\mathbf{u}}. \quad (3.9)$$

This change converts (3.7) to $\mathbf{V} \dot{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{V} \mathbf{\Lambda} \mathbf{y}$. Since \mathbf{V} is nonsingular, premultiplying by $\mathbf{V}^T = \mathbf{V}^{-1}$ yields

$$\dot{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{A}\mathbf{y}, \quad \text{or} \quad \begin{bmatrix} \dot{y}_1 \\ \dot{y}_2 \\ \dot{y}_3 \\ \dot{y}_4 \end{bmatrix} = -\begin{bmatrix} 1024 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 256 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 64 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 4 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ y_3 \\ y_4 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.10)

This is called the *spectral form* of (3.7). Note that the four equations in y_i uncouple. Thus they can be written as four scalar equations

$$\dot{y}_1 = -1024 y_1, \quad \dot{y}_2 = -256 y_2, \quad \dot{y}_3 = -64 y_3, \quad \dot{y}_4 = -4 y_4.$$
 (3.11)

These have the form of the model system (3.1) with λ set to the four eigenvalues λ_i of **L** in turn.

§3.3.2. FE Stability Analysis

To fix the ideas suppose that (3.7) is treated by the Forward Euler (FE) integrator: $\mathbf{u}_{n+1} = \mathbf{u}_n + h\dot{\mathbf{u}}_n$. Making the change of variables (3.9) shows that this is equivalent to treating (3.10) by the FE integrator in \mathbf{y} , that is, $\mathbf{y}_{n+1} = \mathbf{y}_n + h\dot{\mathbf{y}}_n$, which holds for each uncoupled equation. From the results of the last Section, for each of the uncoupled equations (3.11) the stable stepsize is bounded by $|\lambda_i h| \le 2$. The stable stepsize for the system is the minimum of the four:

$$h_{max} = \min\left(\frac{2}{1024}, \frac{2}{256}, \frac{2}{64}, \frac{2}{4}\right) = \frac{2}{1024} = \frac{2}{\lambda_{max}}, \text{ where } \lambda_{max} = \max_{i=1}^{4} |\lambda_i| = 1024.$$
 (3.12)

For the TR and BE integrators it is easy to verify that A-stability is retained.

§3.4. A Second Order ODE

ODEs with second or higher time derivatives can be reduced to a system of first order equations. As an example, consider the second-order ODE that governs the behavior of an undamped, unforced linear oscillator of circular frequency ω :

$$\ddot{d} + \omega^2 d = 0. \tag{3.13}$$

where d = d(t) is the displacement from equilibrium and ω is real nonnegative. This can be reduced to a first order system by introducing the velocity $v = \dot{d}$ as auxiliary variable:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{d} \\ \dot{v} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ \omega^2 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} d \\ v \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \text{ or } \dot{\mathbf{u}} = -\mathbf{L}\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{0}, \quad \mathbf{u} = \begin{bmatrix} d \\ v \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{L} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -\omega^2 & 0 \end{bmatrix}. \quad (3.14)$$

Suppose that this is treated by the FE integrator: $\mathbf{u}_{n+1} = \mathbf{u}_n + h\dot{\mathbf{u}}_n$, or equivalently $d_{n+1} = d_n + h\dot{d}_n$ and $v_{n+1} = v_n + h\dot{v}_n$. the resulting difference system is

$$\mathbf{u}_{n+1} = \mathbf{P}\mathbf{u}_n, \quad \mathbf{P} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & h \\ -h\omega^2 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.15)

where **P**, called the *amplification matrix*, is the generalization of the amplification factor found in (3.4). Since det(**P**) = $1 + \omega^2 h^2$, the eigenvalues of **P** are $z_1 = 1 + h\omega i$ and $z_2 = 1 - h\omega i$, with $i = \sqrt{-1}$. The largest eigenvalue modulus is called the *spectral radius* and is denoted by ρ . Both eigenvalues have the same modulus; thus $\rho = |z_1| = |z_2| = \sqrt{1 + h^2 \omega^2}$. A necessary condition for stability is that the spectral radius do not exceed unity:

$$\rho = |\sqrt{1 + h^2 \omega^2}| \le 1, \quad \text{or} \quad 1 + h^2 \omega^2 \le 1.$$
(3.16)

This condition (3.16) is only satisfied for h = 0, and otherwise violated. Consequently the FE method is *unconditionally unstable* for the oscillator problem (3.13), a conclusion that generalizes to undamped mechanical systems. The result could also be discerned graphically from Figure 3.4, by moving along the imaginary axis because the eigenvalues of **L** are purely imaginary: $\pm \omega i$.

§3.5. General ODE Systems

The rule illustrated by (3.12) can be generalized to a homogeneous first-order linear system with

$$\dot{\mathbf{u}} = \mathbf{L}\,\mathbf{u}, \quad \text{or} \quad \dot{\mathbf{u}} - \mathbf{L}\,\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{0},\tag{3.17}$$

where **L** is a $m \times m$ square matrix. For a linear system, the entries of **L** cannot be functions of the state **u**, but may depend on time.

§3.5.1. Constant Coefficients

If **L** is independent of *t*, the system (3.17) is said to have *constant coefficients*. To simplify matters, it is convenient to assume that **L** is diagonalizable with distinct nonzero eigenvalues λ_i through the similarity transformation

$$\mathbf{V}^{-1} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{V} = \mathbf{diag}(\lambda_i) = \mathbf{\Lambda}, \quad \text{or} \quad \mathbf{L} = \mathbf{V} \mathbf{\Lambda} \mathbf{V}^{-1}. \tag{3.18}$$

Here Λ is the diagonal matrix of eigenvalues λ_i , \mathbf{V} a matrix with the right eigenvectors of \mathbf{L} as columns, and \mathbf{V}^{-1} a matrix with the left eigenvectors as rows. Making the change of variables

$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{V}\mathbf{y}, \quad \mathbf{y} = \mathbf{V}^{-1}\mathbf{u}, \quad \dot{\mathbf{u}} = \mathbf{V}\dot{\mathbf{y}}, \quad \dot{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{V}^{-1}\dot{\mathbf{u}},$$
 (3.19)

reduces (3.17) to $\mathbf{V}\dot{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{V}\mathbf{\Lambda}\mathbf{y}$, which premultiplied by \mathbf{V}^{-1} yields the uncoupled system $\dot{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{\Lambda}\mathbf{y}$. This system is treated by an integrator that produces *k* uncoupled difference equations, the stability of which can be investigated by the amplification method. Suppose that \bar{h}_i is the maximum stable stepsize for the *i*th equation. The stability limit for the system is the minimum of the stable stepsizes:

$$h_{max} = \min_{i=1}^{k} \bar{h}_i.$$
(3.20)

If **L** is singular or has a defective eigensystem, additional precautions are necessary. Those are discussed in several of the texts cited in the **Notes and Bibliography** Section.

§3.5.2. Variable Coefficients

If the entries of \mathbf{L} depend on t, the foregoing technique can still be used by diagonalizing \mathbf{L} at each time step. In this cases the stability analysis is *local*, that is, it represents the local behavior of the system to a first approximation.

§3.5.3. Forced First-Order Linear System

A generalization of (3.17) results on adding a forcing term

$$\dot{\mathbf{u}} - \mathbf{L}\,\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{f}(t) \tag{3.21}$$

But it turns out that for stability analysis the forcing term $\mathbf{f}(t)$ is irrelevant and can be dropped. Consequently it is sufficient to consider the homogeneous forms analyzed before.



Figure 3.5. Stability charts for BE (left) and TR (right) over the complex μ plane. The overstability region for BE is shown in red.

§3.5.4. Linearization of General First-Order System

A fairly general form² of a system of first-order nonlinear differential equations is

$$\dot{\mathbf{u}} = \mathbf{g}(\mathbf{u}, t) \tag{3.22}$$

where **u** is a vector of k components $u_i(t)$ and **g** a vector of k functions $g_i(\mathbf{u}, t)$. To investigate the local behavior of (3.22) at $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{u}_0$ and $t = t_0$ for deviations $\Delta \mathbf{u} = \mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}_0$ and $\Delta t = t - t_0$, linearize it by Taylor series

$$\mathbf{u} \approx \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}}{\partial \mathbf{u}} \Delta \mathbf{u} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}}{\partial t} \Delta t = \mathbf{L} \Delta \mathbf{u} + \mathbf{q} \Delta t, \quad \mathbf{L} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}}{\partial \mathbf{u}} \Big|_{\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{u}_0, t = t_0}, \mathbf{q} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{g}}{\partial t} \Big|_{\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{u}_0, t = t_0}.$$
 (3.23)

so matrix **L** appears as the Jacobian of **g** with respect to **u**. The amplification analysis may be carried out on (3.23) as first approximation. The results, however, may be suspect for highly nonlinear systems. The energy method cited previously does not suffer from that drawback but has to reworked for different problems.

§3.6. Overstability

Overstability means getting a bounded numerical solution for a differential equation or system that has unbounded solutions as *t* grows. As previously remarked, this can be dangerous in some situations such as flutter simulations, since physical instability is masked. The phenomenon can be easily illustrated for Backward Euler (BE) applied to the test equation $\dot{y} = \lambda y$ with $\Re(\lambda) > 0$. The analytical solutions $y(t) = Ce^{\lambda t}$ grow up exponentially. Applying BE: $y_{n+1} = y_n + h\dot{y}_{n+1}$ gives the amplification factor

$$z = \frac{1}{1 - \mu}, \quad \mu = \lambda h. \tag{3.24}$$

The BE stability chart can be generated by the script of 3.3, in which the second argument of StabilityIndicator is 1 whereas the plot range is $\Re(\mu) \in [-3, 3]$ and $\Im(\mu) \in [-3, 3]$ so as

² This form assumes an explicit solution for $\dot{\mathbf{u}}$. most general form is implicit: $\mathbf{F}(\dot{\mathbf{u}}, \mathbf{u}, t) = \mathbf{0}$. But there are few results and integrators available for the most general case.

to include portion of the right hand μ plane. The chart is shown on the left of Figure 3.5. Note the large region of overstability, for example $\mu = \lambda h > 2$ for real λ . This is caused by the numerical damping injected by the method. On the other hand, the stability chart for TR, shown on the right of Figure 3.5, indicates perfect agreement between physical and numerical stability.

Overstability is not always dangerous. If the physical system is known to preclude instability and if a key objective is to converge rapidly to a steady-state solution, the large numerical damping added by an overstable integrator such as BE may help in attaining that goal. This scenario arises in pseudo dynamical simulations.

Notes and Bibliography

The notion of stability as resistance to change is universal. Specific definitions vary with the field. For dynamics and control, see [3.55,3.56]. For dynamical systems from a broader and more recent perspective, see [3.83], which has a comprehensive reference list. For chaotic systems exhibiting "orbit shadowing" see [3.51].

There are many textbooks and monographs that focus on the numerical solution of ordinary differential equations. Of the old (pre-1980) crop, by far the best organized and written is Gear's textbook [3.28]. As can be expected from its publication date it is outdated in some topics but still a gem. Lapidus and Seinfield [3.54] contains useful material for chemical engineering. Lambert's textbook [3.53] has well chosen examples. Henrici's monograph [3.39] for scalar ODEs was groundbreaking in the 1960s, and the sequel [3.40] for systems is still worth keeping as theoretical backup. One of the numerical analysis classics is Dalhquist and Björck [3.9], recently reprinted by Dover. This text contains a tutorial introduction to computational methods for ODEs, skipping proofs.

Of the more recent crop, one may cite Butcher [3.7], Hairer and colleagues [3.36,3.37], Sewell [3.80] and Shampine [3.81]. The most comprehensive and ambitious is the two-volume set [3.36,3.37]. Sample code for solving ODEs is provided in the multi-language Numerical Recipes series; for example [3.74] in Fortran (a dead language, but there is a companion book for C). The implementation quality, as typical of NR, ranges from mediocre to laughable to dismal; however for one shot student projects it might be acceptable.

There are fewer books dealing with the energy method, as it is highly problem dependent. The book by Straughan [3.82] focuses on convective fluid mechanics. Others can be found in the bibliography of [3.83]. For the algebraic eigenproblem the "bible" is Wilkinson [3.91]. Nothing else comes close in comprehensiveness and understanding, although as can be expected from a 1965 publication date several eigensolution methods are outdated or missing.

References

- [3.1] Ahmed, M. O. and Corless, R. M., The method of modified equations in Maple, *Electronic Proc.* 3rd Int. IMACS Conf. on Applications of Computer Algebra, Maui, 1997. PDF accessible at http://www.aqit.uwo.ca/~corless.
- [3.2] Belvin, W. K. and Park, K. C., Structural tailoring and feedback control synthesis: an interdisciplinary approach, *J. Guidance, Control & Dynamics*, **13**, 424–429, 1990.
- [3.3] Belytschko, T. and Mullen, R., Mesh partitions of explicit-implicit time integration, in: *Formulations and Computational Algorithms in Finite Element Analysis*, ed. by K.-J. Bathe, J. T. Oden and W. Wunderlich, MIT Press, Cambridge, 673–690, 1976.
- [3.4] Belytschko, T. and Mullen, R., Stability of explicit-implicit mesh partitions in time integration, *Int. J. Numer. Meth. Engrg.*, **12**, 1575–1586, 1978.
- [3.5] Belytschko, T., Yen, T. and Mullen, R., Mixed methods for time integration, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **17/18**, 259–275, 1979.
- [3.6] Bergan, P. G. and Felippa, C. A., A triangular membrane element with rotational degrees of freedom, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **50**, 25–69, 1985
- [3.7] Butcher, J. C., Numerical Methods for Ordinary Differential Equations, Wiley, New York, 2003.
- [3.8] Cohn, A., Über die Anzahl der Wurzeln einer algebraischen Gleichung in einem Kreise, *Math Z.*, **14–15**, 110–148, 1914.

- [3.9] Dahlquist, G. and Björck, A., *Numerical Methods*, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1974; reprinted by Dover, New York, 2003.
- [3.10] Davis, P. J., John von Neumann at 100: SIAM celebrates a rich legacy, SIAM News, 36, No. 4, May 2003.
- [3.11] Douglas, J. and Rachford Jr., H. H., On the numerical solution of the heat equation in two and three space variables, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **82**, 421–439, 1956.
- [3.12] Farhat, C. and Lin, T. Y., Transient aeroelastic computations using multiple moving frames of reference, AIAA Paper No. 90-3053, *AIAA 8th Applied Aerodynamics Conference*, Portland, Oregon, August 1990.
- [3.13] Farhat, C., Park, K. C. and Pelerin, Y. D., An unconditionally stable staggered algorithm for transient finite element analysis of coupled thermoelastic problems, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **85**, 349–365, 1991.
- [3.14] Farhat, C. and Roux, F.-X., Implicit parallel processing in structural mechanics, *Comput. Mech. Advances*, 2, 1–124, 1994.
- [3.15] Farhat, C., Chen, P. S. and Mandel, J., A scalable Lagrange multiplier based domain decomposition method for implicit time-dependent problems, *Int. J. Numer. Meth. Engrg.*, **38**, 3831–3854, 1995.
- [3.16] Felippa, C. A., Refined finite element analysis of linear and nonlinear two-dimensional structures, *Ph.D. Dissertation*, Department of Civil Engineering, University of California at Berkeley, Berkeley, CA, 1966.
- [3.17] Felippa, C. A. and Park, K. C., Computational aspects of time integration procedures in structural dynamics, Part I: Implementation, *J. Appl. Mech.*, **45**, 595–602, 1978.
- [3.18] Felippa, C. A., Yee, H. C. M. and Park, K. C., Stability of staggered transient analysis procedures for coupled mechanical systems, Report LMSC-D630852, Applied Mechanics Laboratory, Lockheed Palo Alto Research Laboratory, Lockheed Missiles & Space Co., 1979.
- [3.19] Felippa, C. A. and Park, K. C., Direct time integration methods in nonlinear structural dynamics, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **17/18**, 277–313, 1979.
- [3.20] Felippa, C. A. and Park, K. C., Staggered transient analysis procedures for coupled dynamic systems: formulation, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **24**, 61–112, 1980.
- [3.21] Felippa, C. A. and DeRuntz, J. A., Finite element analysis of shock-induced hull cavitation, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **44**, 297–337, 1984.
- [3.22] Felippa, C. A. and Bergan, P. G., A triangular plate bending element based on an energy-orthogonal free formulation, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **61**, 129–160, 1987.
- [3.23] Felippa, C. A. and T. L. Geers, Partitioned analysis of coupled mechanical systems, *Engrg. Comput.*, **5**, 123–133, 1988.
- [3.24] Felippa, C. A., Recent advances in finite element templates, Chapter 4 in Computational Mechanics for the Twenty-First Century, ed. by B.H.V. Topping, Saxe-Coburn Publications, Edinburgh, 71–98, 2000.
- [3.25] Felippa, C. A., Park, K. C. and Farhat, C., Partitioned analysis of coupled mechanical systems, Invited Plenary Lecture, 4th World Congress in Computational Mechanics, Buenos Aires, Argentina, July 1998, expanded version in *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **190**, 3247–3270, 2001.
- [3.26] Felippa, C. A., A study of optimal membrane triangles with drilling freedoms, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **192**, 2125–2168, 2003.
- [3.27] Gantmacher, F., The Theory of Matrices, Vol. II, Chelsea, New York, 1960.
- [3.28] Gear, C. W., *Numerical Initial value Problems in Ordinary Differential Equations*, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1971.
- [3.29] Geers, T., L., Residual potential and approximate methods for three-dimensional fluid-structure interaction, *J. Acoust. Soc. Am.*, **45**, 1505–1510, 1971.
- [3.30] Geers, T. L., Doubly asymptotic approximations for transient motions of general structures, *J. Acoust. Soc. Am.*, **45**, 1500–1508, 1980.
- [3.31] Geers, T. L. and Felippa, C. A., Doubly asymptotic approximations for vibration analysis of submerged structures, *J. Acoust. Soc. Am.*, **73**, 1152–1159, 1980.
- [3.32] Geers, T. L., Boundary element methods for transient response analysis, in: Chapter 4 of *Computational Methods for Transient Analysis*, ed. by T. Belytschko and T. J. R. Hughes, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 221–244, 1983.
- [3.33] Grcar, J., Birthday of Modern Numerical Analysis, sepp@california.sandia.gov, 2003

- [3.34] Griffiths, D. and Sanz-Serna, J., On the scope of the method of modified equations. *SIAM J. Sci. Statist. Comput.*, **7**, 994–1008, 1986.
- [3.35] Hairer, E., Backward analysis of numerical integrators and symplectic methods, *Annals Numer. Math.*, **1**, 107–132, 1994.
- [3.36] Hairer, E., Norsett, S. P. and Wanner, G., Solving Ordinary Differential Equations I: Nonstiff Problems, Springer, Berlin, 1994.
- [3.37] Hairer, E. and Wanner, G., Solving Ordinary Differential Equations II: Stiff and Difference-Algebraic Problems, Springer, Berlin, 1996.
- [3.38] Hairer, E., Lubich, C. and Wanner, G., Geometric Numerical Integration: Structure Preserving Algorithms for Ordinary Differential Equations, Springer Verlag, Berlin, 2002.
- [3.39] Henrici, P., Discrete Variable Methods for Ordinary Differential Equations, Wiley, New York, 1963.
- [3.40] Henrici, P., Error Propagation for Difference Methods, Wiley, New York, 1964.
- [3.41] Henrici, P., Applied and Computational Complex Analysis, Vol II, Wiley, New York, 1977.
- [3.42] Hermite, C., Sur le nombre des racines d'une équation algébrique comprise entre des limites données, *J. Reine Angew. Math.* **52**, 39–51, 1856.
- [3.43] Hirt, C. W., Heuristic stability theory for finite difference equations, J. Comp. Physics, 2, 339–342, 1968.
- [3.44] Hughes, T. J. R. and Liu, W.-K., Implicit-explicit finite elements in transient analysis: I. Stability theory; II. Implementation and numerical examples, *J. Appl. Mech.*, **45**, 371–378, 1978.
- [3.45] Hughes, T. J. R., Pister, K. S. and Taylor, R. L., Implicit-explicit finite elements in nonlinear transient analysis, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **17/18**, 159–182, 1979.
- [3.46] Hughes, T. J. R. and Stephenson, R. S., Stability of implicit-explicit finite elements in nonlinear transient analysis, *Int. J. Engrg. Sci.*, **19**, 295–302, 1981.
- [3.47] Hughes, T. J. R., *The Finite Element Method Linear Static and Dynamic Finite Element Analysis*, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1987.
- [3.48] Hurwitz, A., Über die Bedingungen, unter welchen eine Gleichung nur Wurzeln mit negativen reellen Theilen besitz, *Math. Ann.*, 46, 273–284, 1895. English translation: On the conditions under which an equation has only roots with negative real part, in *Selected papers on Mathematical Trends in Control Theory*, ed. by R. Bellman and R. Kalaba, Dover, New York, 72–82, 1964.
- [3.49] Jensen, P. S., Transient analysis of structures by stiffly stable methods, *Computers & Structures*, **4**, 615–626, 1974.
- [3.50] Jury, E. I., Inners and Stability of Dynamic Systems, 2nd ed., Krieger, Malabar, FA, 1982.
- [3.51] Kloeden, P. E. and Palmer, K. J. (eds), *Chaotic Numerics*, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1994.
- [3.52] Lagrange, J. L., *Méchanique Analytique*, Chez le Veuve Desaint, Paris, 1788; 1965 Édition compléte, 2 vol., Blanchard, Paris.
- [3.53] Lambert, J., Computational Methods in Ordinary Differential Equations, Wiley, London, 1973.
- [3.54] Lapidus, L. and Seinfield, J. H., Numerical Solutions of Ordinary Differential Equations, Academic Press, New York, 1971.
- [3.55] LaSalle, R. D., *The Stability of Dynamic Systems*, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Providence, RI, 1976.
- [3.56] LaSalle, R. D., The Stability and Control of Dynamic Processes, Springer, Berlin, 1986.
- [3.57] Liénard, A. and Chipart, M. H., Sur la signe de la partie reelle des racines d'une équation algebrique, *J. Math. Pure Appl.*, **10**, 291–346, 1914.
- [3.58] Lomax, H., Kutler, P. and Fuller, F. B., The numerical solution of partial differential equations governing convection, AGARDograph 146, 1970.
- [3.59] Park, K. C., Felippa, C. A. and DeRuntz, J. A., Stabilization of staggered solution procedures for fluidstructure interaction analysis, in: *Computational Methods for Fluid-Structure Interaction Problems*, ed. by T. Belytschko and T. L. Geers, AMD Vol. 26, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York, 95–124, 1977.

- [3.60] Park, K. C. and Felippa, C. A., Computational aspects of time integration procedures in structural dynamics, Part II: Error propagation, *J. Appl. Mech.*, **45**, 603–611, 1978.
- [3.61] Park, K. C., Partitioned transient analysis procedures for coupled-field problems: stability analysis, *J. Appl. Mech.*, **47**, 370–376, 1980.
- [3.62] Park, K. C. and Felippa, C. A., Partitioned transient analysis procedures for coupled-field problems: accuracy analysis, *J. Appl. Mech.*, 47, 919–926, 1980.
- [3.63] Park, K. C. and Flaggs, D. L., An operational procedure for the symbolic analysis of the finite element method, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **46**, 65–81, 1984.
- [3.64] Park, K. C. and Flaggs, D. L., A Fourier analysis of spurious modes and element locking in the finite element method, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **42**, 37–46, 1984.
- [3.65] Park, K. C. and Felippa, C. A., Partitioned analysis of coupled systems, Chapter 3 in *Computational Methods for Transient Analysis*, T. Belytschko and T. J. R. Hughes, eds., North-Holland, Amsterdam–New York, 157–219, 1983.
- [3.66] Park, K. C. and Felippa, C. A., Recent advances in partitioned analysis procedures, in: Chapter 11 of *Numerical Methods in Coupled Problems*, ed. by R. Lewis, P. Bettess and E. Hinton, Wiley, Chichester, 327–352, 1984.
- [3.67] Park, K. C. and Belvin, W. K., A partitioned solution procedure for control-structure interaction simulations, *J. Guidance, Control and Dynamics*, **14**, 59–67, 1991.
- [3.68] Park, K. C. and Felippa, C. A., A variational principle for the formulation of partitioned structural systems, *Int. J. Numer. Meth. Engrg.*, **47**, 395–418, 2000.
- [3.69] Park, K. C., Felippa, C. A. and Ohayon, R., Partitioned formulation of internal fluid-structure interaction problems via localized Lagrange multipliers, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **190**, 2989–3007, 2001.
- [3.70] Parlett, B. N., Very early days of matrix computations, *SIAM News*, **36**, No. 9, Nov. 2003.
- [3.71] Peaceman, D. W. and Rachford Jr., H. H., The numerical solution of parabolic and elliptic differential equations, *SIAM J.*, **3**, 28–41, 1955.
- [3.72] Piperno, S. and Farhat, C., Design of efficient partitioned procedures for the transient solution of aeroelastic problems, *Revue Européenne Eléments Finis*, **9**, 655–680, 2000.
- [3.73] Piperno, S. and Farhat, C., Partitioned procedures for the transient solution of coupled aeroelastic problems: an energy transfer analysis and three-dimensional applications, *Comp. Meths. Appl. Mech. Engrg.*, **190**, 3147–3170, 2001.
- [3.74] Press, W. H., Flannery, B. P., Teukolsky, S. A. and Vetterling, W. T., *Numerical Recipes in Fortran*, Cambridge Univ. Press, 2nd ed., 1992.
- [3.75] Richtmyer, R. L. and Morton, K. W., *Difference Methods for Initial Value Problems*, 2nd ed., Interscience Pubs., New York, 1967.
- [3.76] Roache, P. J., Computational Fluid Mechanics, Hermosa Publishers, Albuquerque, 1970.
- [3.77] Routh, E. J., A Treatise on the Stability of a Given State of Motion Adams Prize Essay, Macmillan, New York, 1877.
- [3.78] Schuler, J. J. and Felippa, C. A., Superconducting finite elements based on a gauged potential variational principle, I. Formulation, II. Computational results, *J. Comput. Syst. Engrg*, **5**, 215–237, 1994.
- [3.79] Schur, I., Über Potenzreihen die in Inners des Einheitkreises besehränkt sind, J. Für Math., **147**, 205–232, 1917.
- [3.80] Sewell, G., The Numerical Solutions of Ordinary & Partial Differential Equations, Academic Press, 1997.
- [3.81] Shampine, L. F., Numerical Solution of Ordinary Differential Equations, CRC Press, 1994.
- [3.82] Straughan, B., Energy Method, Stability and Nonlinear Convection, Springer, Berlin, 1992.
- [3.83] Stuart, A. M. and Humphries, A. R., *Dynamic Systems and Numerical Analysis*, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1996.
- [3.84] Turing, A. M., Rounding-off errors in matrix processes, Quart. J. Mech, 1, 287–308, 1987.
- [3.85] Uspenky, J. V., Theory of Equations, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1948.
- [3.86] von Neumann, J. and Goldstine, H. Numerical inverting of matrices of high order, Bull AMS, 1947.

- [3.87] Waltz, J. E., Fulton, R. E. and Cyrus, N. J., Accuracy and convergence of finite element approximations, Proc. Second Conf. on Matrix Methods in Structural Mechanics, WPAFB, Ohio, Sep. 1968, in AFFDL TR 68-150, 995–1028, 1968.
- [3.88] Warming, R. F. and Hyett, B. J., The modified equation approach to the stability and accuracy analysis of finite difference methods, *J. Comp. Physics*, **14**, 159–179, 1974.
- [3.89] Wilkinson, J. H., Error analysis of direct methods of matrix inversion, J. ACM 8, 281–330, 1961.
- [3.90] Wilkinson, J. H., Rounding Errors in Algebraic Processes, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1963.
- [3.91] Wilkinson, J. H., The Algebraic Eigenvalue Problem, Oxford Univ. Press, Oxford, 1965.
- [3.92] Wolfram, S., *The Mathematica Book*, Wolfram Media Inc., 5th ed. 2003.
- [3.93] Yanenko, N. N., The Method of Fractional Steps, Springer, Berlin, 1991.